SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MAR 25 1992

JEFFREY ATWATER,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

Chief Deputy Clerk

Appellant/Cross-Appellee, :

:

Case No. 76,327

STATE OF FLORIDA,

vs.

Appellee/Cross-Appellant. :

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT/CROSS-APPELLEE

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

STEPHEN KROSSCHELL ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 351199

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33830 (813) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT/CROSS-APPELLEE

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 7, 1989, a Pinellas County grand jury indicted the Appellant, JEFFREY ATWATER, for murder in the first degree and armed robbery. (R4) On May 4, 1990, a petit jury found Atwater guilty as charged. (R560-61) On May 17, 1990, the jury recommended death by a eleven to one vote. (R675) On June 25, 1990, Judge Stoutamyre sentenced Atwater to death, finding that the murder (1) was committed during a robbery, (2) was heinous, atrocious, or cruel, and (3) was cold, calculated, and premeditated. (R707-15) The court imposed a ten year sentence concurrent for robbery. (R717) Atwater appealed on July 13, 1990. (R742) The state has cross-appealed. (R753)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Adele Coderre was Janet Coderre's mother and Jeffrey Atwater's mother's twin. (R1337-38, 1361, 1374) In June, 1989, Atwater moved in with Adele. (R1339) He cared about Adele, was protective of her, called her "Mom" and said she was more of a mother than his real mother. (R1323, 1328, 1347, 1374) Adele had wanted to raise Atwater as her own child, but his natural mother had refused. (R1347) Adele had cerebral palsy, which affected her speech but not her mental capacity. (R1346)

Adele had known Kenny Smith for a year and a half. (R1360) As of August 11, 1989, they planned to get married on August 18. (R1363) Adele said she told Atwater about the wedding, but Janet thought he did not know about it. (R1348, 1363) Smith drank too much but told Adele he would quit, after she refused to marry him otherwise. (R1349, 1351-52) They often quarreled, and Smith moved in and out of her house several times. (R1324, 1348, 1360)

Adele told Atwater once that Smith grabbed her at a market. (R1374) According to Janet, Adele came once to Janet's house for a few days after Smith

slapped her. (R1348) Adele, however, testified that Smith never slapped her and that she may have told Janet he had because she was angry with him. (R1373) Adele told Janet that, another time, Smith chased her around the house and she fell down. (R1348) Adele testified that Smith was being "romantic" when he chased her. (R1362) Atwater came from the bathroom and asked what was going on. (R1362) She said she and Smith both wanted romance, but could not do it while Atwater was there. (R1362) He angrily ordered Smith from the house. (R1362, 1373) Smith returned for his glasses and cigarettes, but Atwater became angry again when he did not knock on the door. (R1362)

Michael Painter knew Smith and Atwater for several months and was Adele's good friend and her former apartment manager. (R1315-16, 1322-23) In June or early July when Atwater and Adele were eating dinner, Painter entered the house and asked about Smith and Adele. (R1316-17) They said that Smith had pushed Adele down, and Atwater said matter-of-factly that he was going to get or kill Smith for doing it. (R1316-17, 1325) Painter did not take this statement seriously. (R1317) A few days or weeks later, Painter again asked Atwater about Adele and Smith. (R1317) Atwater said he did not like Smith and would get or kill him, but Painter again did not take this statement seriously. (R1318) Atwater usually became angry when he talked about Smith and Adele. (R1318, 1326) Around August 4, 1989, at 5:30 a.m. while they were drinking beer and smoking marijuana before Atwater went to work, Atwater told Painter that he was still upset, that he was going to get Smith, and that it would not be too long now. (R1318-19, 1325)

Painter told the police about these statements in August. (R1320) He was arrested for another charge on February 7, 1990, and was in custody during trial. (R1320-21) He denied testifying in the hope of getting a lighter sentence. (R1321)

Smith's close friend Joan Camarato saw him almost every day and knew of his relationship with Coderre. (R1045, 1054) She felt his relationship with her was his business, and she never tried to talk him into breaking up with Coderre. (R1054-55) In deposition, however, she had said she told Smith she did not like Coderre, and he should not bring Coderre to her apartment again. (R1055)

Camarato saw Atwater three days in a row in the courtyard of the apartment building where she lived and which she managed. (R1047, 1049) Each day, Atwater looked around for a minute and left. (R1047) About 11 a.m. on August 11, Smith was with Camarato when she saw Atwater outside her apartment for the third time. (R1047) Smith did not want Atwater to see him and stood away from the window. (R1047-48) He was afraid of Atwater and would not give him any more money. (R1047-48, 1050)

Smith drank a six-pack of beer and had dinner with Camarato until 7:30 p.m., when "Wheel of Fortune" was over. (R1049, 1051, 1056) She gave him twenty dollars to clean one of her apartments. (R1049) He put it in his right front pocket where he always kept it. (R1049-50) He did not carry much money. (R1056) He left, saying he would buy cigarettes on the way home. (R1049) She did not remember that he previously left her apartment to buy cigarettes. (R1049)

Smith, a daily customer at the Suncoast Market, bought two packs of cigarettes there about 7 or 7:30 p.m. from manager George Prodanov. (R1041-42) Prodanov had known Smith, a previous renter of an apartment behind the store, for three or four years. (R1041-43) Prodanov did not remember from which pocket he got his money, but he always carried his money in his front pocket. (R1042) Prodanov did not notice that he had been drinking. (R1044) Smith left, walking toward Camarato's building. (R1042)

Mary Sheridan worked in St. Petersburg at the desk of the John Knox apartments for the low-income elderly. (R1016-17) She saw Smith, a resident in

apartment 617, enter the building around 4 p.m. and again between 6:30 and 7 p.m. (R1019) A sign required all non-residents to register at the desk. (R267)

Around 8 p.m., Atwater entered and said he was going to room 617 to see Smith, his grandfather, whom he had not seen for six years. (R1019-20, 1031). Sheridan smelled alcohol on his breath. (R1031) He wore a hat; dirty, faded, yellow T-shirt with a Florida bank sign on it; and tan corduroy pants with an open zipper and a one-inch-square rip above his right knee. (R1021) She noticed his appearance because she was surprised that someone who had not seen his grandfather for six years would look so dirty. (R1023) When she asked if he wanted to call room 617, he said he wanted to surprise his grandfather. (R1020) He mistakenly wrote the wrong apartment number in the logbook but quickly corrected it. (R1020, 1031) He signed his name, recorded the time, 8:04 p.m., and went up the elevator. (R495, 1020, 1023-24, 1279) The written name was unclear, but it may have said Jeffrey Smith. (R495)

About ten to twenty-five minutes later, he returned and said Smith was not home. (R1024, 1032, 1281) He did not seem nervous, his clothes were not bloody, and he did not slur his words or stagger. (R1034, 1036, 1038-39) He said Smith was afraid for his life and had called him three days ago in Connecticut. (R1024) Sheridan was surprised because she had seen Smith go in and out; she wondered why Smith had not called the police or talked to the manager. (R1024) When Atwater asked about the building's security procedures, she said that management checked on tenants who did not turn in their tags each day. (R1025) Atwater signed the logbook at 8:22 or 8:27 p.m. and walked out. (R1026, 1028, 1038)

When Atwater left, Sheridan called Smith's room without getting an answer. (R1026, 1028) She went upstairs, opened the door, and saw Smith on the floor, shirtless and with an open zipper. (R1026) She closed the door. (R1026) She did not notice blood on the cement hallway outside the apartment or on the elevator's

linoleum floor. (R1037) Smith's neighbor came out. (R1026) The paramedics and police arrived within ten or fifteen minutes, and the medical examiner arrived at 11:50 p.m. (R1026-28, 1037, 1232)

The apartment was not disorderly, but some items were out of place. (R1093, 1111, 1309) The police did not investigate the entire apartment but only the area around the body. (R1094) Two garbage bags were full of beer cans. (R1118, 1352) The television and lights were on, but the telephone cord behind the couch was cut. (R1099, 1289, 1295) An open package of cigarettes, a lighter, and three ATM receipts dated August 3, 4, and 10 for \$100, \$95, and \$50 were on the table. (R501, 1101, 1290, 1296, 1306) The receipts did not show that they belonged to Smith or were from Smith's account. (R501, 1307) They might have come from his pockets. (R1307) The balance on the August 10 receipt was \$51.81. (R501) The police found no money except a few pennies on the floor. (R1095-96, 1296) A green lock box in the closet was unopened. (R1309)

Smith appeared to have been dragged to his final position -- on his back in a pool of blood. (R1070, 1291) His jeans were unbuttoned, unzipped, and pulled slightly down, and his pockets were pulled out. (R1120, 1290, 1232) The pockets were not bloody. (R1306) He had keys in his back pocket. (R1310) A bloody area on his stomach and another circular bloody area on the floor nearby indicated that he may have been rolled over. (R1291) No blood was in the hallway, but other rooms in the apartment had small blood transfers on the floor, and the bed had a blood spot. (R1098, 1119, 1295-96) Bloody shoe prints were on the floor between the door and the body and into the bedroom. (R1100-01, 1103, 1119, 1289) Blood had spattered on the lower three feet of the living room wall, perhaps from someone stomping in blood or attacking Smith near the ground. (R1100, 1119-20, 1295) Faint red stains in the bathroom and kitchen sinks may not have been blood stains. (R1296-97)

The medical examiner found that Smith was five feet ten inches tall, weighed 164 pounds, and had a blood alcohol level of .12 percent. (R1246, 1251) The cause of death was hemorrhage from stab wounds, especially two heart wounds, caused perhaps by a narrow, sharp, steak or pen knife. (R1234-35, 1246-47) Nine stab wounds were in the front chest, nine in the back, one in the right flank, and one in the neck. (R1255, 1239) Three front and two back wounds reaching the lungs would have caused death within an hour. (R1240) Two front wounds to the heart would have caused unconsciousness and death within one or two minutes. (R1241) Eleven slashing wounds of varying lengths were on the face, six on the neck, two on the shoulder, and one on the right thumb. (R1236) A five and a half-inch cut on the neck and a deep nose cut would have bled substantially. (R1236, 1274) His feet and pants bottoms were not bloody, and the blood from the various wounds went down his neck rather than his front chest, suggesting that he was on the floor on his back when many of the chest and facial wounds occurred. (R1248, 1256, 1272, 1293, 1296)

The back of the scalp was lacerated, perhaps from falling to the floor. (R1236, 1245) Bruises and scrapes were on the chin, face, extremities, and left eyelid. (R1237, 1244) Blunt trauma had fractured the voice box and five ribs on the back and left side. (R1237, 1244-45, 1257) The doctor found no defensive wounds, except perhaps a millimeter-long cut on the thumb. (R1244, 1265)

Tests on Smith's eye and his lack of body rigidity suggested that he had probably died two to six hours earlier. (R1233-34) Several wounds occurred before he died, and no wound had to have occurred afterwards. (R1247) They probably occurred around the same time. (R1247) The doctor thought that the less severe wounds to the back occurred first because they pointed upward; the stab wounds to the heart were the last and were fatal because it was illogical to think that the fatal wounds were inflicted first. (R1249-50, 1259) The doctor

could not, however, say with certainty the sequence in which the wounds occurred.

(R1254-56) They could all have occurred within less than a minute. (R1250)

Blood in Smith's fingernail scrapings and on a towel on a newspaper rack outside the building could not be precisely identified. (R1106-07, 1199, 1201) Hair from the towel had the same microscopic characteristics as Smith's pubic hair, but the expert could not say it was Smith's hair. (R1161-62, 1165) The expert did not find hair in the fingernail scrapings. (R1164, 1168)

Between 8:30 and 9 p.m., Atwater walked into Adele's house while she was bathing Atwater's girlfriend's baby. (R1339-40, 1364) He told Janet he had slit Smith's throat, (R1340-41) He had enjoyed it and would do it again. (R1341) He put clothes in his suitcase in his room and said he had to leave the city. (R1340, 1365) According to Janet, they went to the living room, and he told Adele he had killed Smith and he was sorry. (R1341, 1366) Adele did not understand or was very shook up because she asked about the electric bill he had promised to pay. (R1341-42, 1367-68) He said angrily that he had paid it and that money was all "you damn Atwaters" thought about. (R1341-42, 1368) She did not have to worry about Smith abusing her any more. (R1349)

When Janet asked whether he was sure that Smith was dead, Atwater said he made sure the bastard was dead. (R1341, 1366) Smith had hit him in the eye in the Anchor bar parking lot. (R1342) Atwater pointed to his eye, but Janet did not see marks there. (R1342) After following Smith to his apartment building, he told the lady at the desk that he was Smith's grandson and needed to talk to Smith because his life was in danger. (R1342)

At some point, someone knocked on the door at Adele's house. (R1342, 1368) Atwater opened it and said, "Thank God, it's only you" when he saw Janet's boyfriend, Danny, at the door. (R1342-44, 1368) They returned to the living room, where Atwater took off his sneakers and asked Danny what he saw. (R1343)

Danny said it looked like blood. (R1343) Atwater repeated what he had said and added that he used a knife from Smith's apartment and wiped it on his shirt before he left. (R1343, 1367, 1369) He threw the knife away somewhere. (R1345) They asked him why he had done it. (R1369) According to Janet, he did not give a reason, but, according to Adele, he said that Smith had slapped him. (R1349, 1369)

Danny gave Atwater a ride to return the baby to its mother. (R1343, 1370) Before leaving, however, he told the Coderres and Danny that, if they turned him in, he would get out of jail and get them. (R1343-44, 1369) Janet saw blood spots on Atwater's shirt, sneakers, and lower pant legs, and his zipper was open. (R1344) Atwater did not have a noticeable injury or have trouble talking or walking. (R1344, 1370) Adele could smell alcohol but, contrary to her statement in deposition, thought he was not drunk. (R1369-70)

The police checked a park and different bars, looking for a man who fit the description Sheridan had given them. (R1060, 1072) The bartender at the Anchor Bar, a block from Smith's apartment, said that someone fitting the description might have been there. (R1061) Between 9:30 and 10 p.m., the police saw Atwater sitting inside Molly's Bar, a few blocks away. (R1061) His clothes fit the description -- a hat, yellow shirt with a bank logo on the back, and long pants ripped by the knee. (R1061-62, 1080) The barmaid said he had just come in. (R1062)

Officer Silva asked Atwater for identification. (R1062) When he asked why, Silva said he fit the description of a homicide suspect. (R1062) He showed Silva his identification and an old, dried cut on his knuckle and volunteered that he had blood on his pants and shoes because he was a quick bleeder. (R1062-66) Silva smelled alcohol on his breath and he had a beer on the bar, but he spoke coherently and walked without difficulty. (R1065, 1067) Around 10 p.m., Sheridan

identified him as the man she had seen two hours earlier. (R1029, 1063, 1073-75)

He wore the same clothes, and his zipper was open. (R1029, 1075)

The police arrested him and took him to the station. (R1063-64) On the way, he again said he was a quick bleeder. (R1064) Photographs of his hands did not show recent cuts, and a red area on his face from a fresh nick was not bleeding. (R1299-1300) He said that bruises and scrapes on his face and hands came from working as a cement finisher. (R1127) His zipper was broken. (R1076) He had a fifty dollar bill, two twenty dollar bills, a one dollar bill, and \$4.38 in coins. (R1125-26) An expert did not find hair on his clothes that matched Smith's hair. (R1162) The police smelled alcohol but did not notice that he had any trouble walking or talking or that he was drunk. (R1081, 1084, 1301, 1310) He was angry and quarreled with them. (R1081-83)

Officer Silva saw Atwater shuffle his feet on the carpet as if he were trying to rub something off, but Officer Rawls did not see this. (R1064, 1082) An expert testified that Atwater's shoes were consistent with shoe prints found in Smith's apartment, but he could not say that the prints in fact came from these shoes. (R1176-77) A nick on the left shoe corresponded to a distortion in the shoe prints, but the distortion could have come from the floor rather than the shoe. (R1179) The expert had not previously seen shoes of that design. (R1178)

The blood stains on Atwater's pants and shoes were not his blood and were consistent with Smith's blood, although the expert could not say that they were Smith's blood. (R1194-96) Four and a half percent of the white population had blood like Smith's blood and the blood stains. (R1196-97) Atwater's socks and shirt also had blood on them, but the expert could not identify this blood more precisely. (R1200, 1225)

A week and a half later, the Coderres went to Smith's apartment and did not

find that any knives were missing. (R1350, 1371) They were familiar with Smith's knives because the knives had previously been at Adele's house. (R1371)

PENALTY PHASE

Michael Painter repeated much of his guilt phase testimony. (R1603-11) He added that Adele told him she liked having Atwater around, but he scared her when he was drinking. (R1612) Atwater told Painter that he often blacked out when he drank. (R1612)

When Kelly Bowman came on duty at 4:45 p.m. on August 11 at the Anchor Bar, he saw Atwater there. (R1570, 1572) Bowman served him at least three doubles of Chevis Regal, and Atwater bought drinks for another man and for the bar owner. (R1573-74, 1576-77) Bowman told him to leave at 8:30 p.m., because the bar's dress code required shirts when the band started playing at 9 p.m. (R1572-73. 1575, 1578) Bowman thought that Atwater was in the bar the whole time. (R1577) He was not loud or obnoxious and walked and talked normally. (R1577)

Jean Newby saw Atwater enter the apartment building and talk to Sheridan at the desk. (R1554) He walked and talked normally. (R1561, 1563) Atwater mentioned his grandfather's room number and said he wanted to see him. (R1555) Newby walked outside for ten or fifteen minutes or perhaps a little longer. (R1555-59) When she returned, Atwater was back at the desk. (R1556) He was concerned about his grandfather, because he had knocked on the door without response. (R1557) He implied that Sheridan ought to check on Smith. (R1557) The logged sign-out time was hard to read and could have been 8:20, 8:22, or 8:29 p.m. (R1564-65)

Harvey Cuyler was Smith's neighbor. (R1582-83) On August 11 as Cuyler left the elevator, he saw Atwater slam Smith's apartment door and walk swearing to the elevator. (R1583, 1585) He first testified that Atwater was not drunk but shook his body, head, and shoulders as if he might be a little drunk. (R1585-86, 1593)

In deposition, however, Cuyler said that Atwater was staggering and must have been drinking. (R1592) Upon seeing his deposition, Cuyler then said that Atwater appeared to have been drinking and to have been drunk, but Cuyler could not say that he was in fact drunk. (R1593-95) The prosecutor leadingly had Cuyler characterize Atwater's walk as strutting. (R1599)

Cuyler later heard people knocking on Smith's apartment door. (R1586) Cuyler told them that something might be wrong and they should get a key to the apartment, because he had just seen a man who must have been half-drunk or drinking hard leave the apartment. (R1584, 1587, 1596-97, 1600) They got a key and, when they opened the door, saw Smith on the floor. (R1587)

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