.HIN 24 1992

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

JEFFREY ATWATER,

· Appellant/Cross-Appellee

v.

Case No. 76,327

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee/Cross-Appellant.

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE/INITIAL BRIEF OF CROSS-APPELLANT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CANDANCE M. SUNDERLAND
Assistant Attorney General
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Westwood Center
Tampa, Florida 33607
(813) 873-4739

OF COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Further, as intent is usually established by circumstantial evidence, our courts have consistently held that trial courts should rarely, if ever, grant a motion for judgment of acquittal based on the state's failure to prove intent. As the court noted in <u>King v. State</u>, 545 So.2d 375 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989):

"A trial court should rarely, if ever, grant a judgment of acquittal based on the state's failure to prove mental intent. Brewer v. State, 43 So.2d 1217 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982). This is because the proof of intent usually consists of the surrounding circumstances of the case. Id. Where reasonable persons may differ as to the existence of facts tending to prove ultimate facts, or inferences to be drawn from the facts, the case should be submitted to the jury. Victor v. State, 141 Fla. 508, 193 So. 762 (1939). A directed verdict cannot be given if the testimony is

conflicting, or lends to different reasonable inferences, tending to prove the issues. Snipes v. State, 154 Fla. 262, 17 So.2d 93 (1944)."

(545 So.2d at 378)

The evidence in this case shows that Mr. Atwater received money from Mr. Smith on other occasions, that Mr. Smith was afraid of Mr. Atwater, and refused to give him any more money, that Mr. Smith had money on him at the time of the murder, that Mr. Atwater took the money from the person of Mr. Smith, that force or violence was used in the taking and that the taking was done with the intent to deprive. (R 501, 1042, 1047 - 49, 1101, 1234 - 96, 1307) Accordingly, the trial court properly denied the motion as there was competent substantial evidence to establish both intent and a taking.

Appellant's argument now that the taking was a mere afterthought was not presented to the court below, and is not supported by any of the cases cited by appellant. In each of those cases there was clear evidence that the theft occurred as an afterthought. There is no evidence to support the contention in the instant case that the taking was a mere afterthought. Cf. Fowler v. State, 492 So.2d 1344 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986); Parker v. State, 458 So.2d 750 (Fla. 1984). Even where there are conflicts in testimony or the theories of the case, the jury has the

Appellant challenges the admission of this statement as impermissible hearsay, but concedes that it was admitted without objection. Therefore, this claim was not preserved for appellate review.

prerogative to resolve those conflicts in favor of the state, as it apparently did. Riechmann v. State, 581 So.2d 133 (Fla. 1991). Bedford v. State, 589 So.2d 245 (Fla. 1991) (the circumstantial evidence rule does not require that jury to believe the defense's version of the facts when the state has produced conflicting evidence). Accordingly, as there was substantial, competent evidence to support the jury's verdict, the trial court correctly denied the motion for judgment of acquittal. Holton v. State, 573 So.2d 284 (Fla. 1990).

ISSUE II

WHETHER IT WAS ERRONEOUS TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON FELONY MURDER AND RECEIVE A GENERAL VERDICT ON MURDER IF THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE UNDERLYING FELONY OF ROBBERY.

Appellant contends that there was insufficient evidence to support the underlying felony of robbery and therefore it was erroneous to instruct the jury on felony murder. He contends that since the jury was instructed both on felony murder and first degree murder that there was no way of knowing if the jury relied on felony murder for which there was insufficient evidence.

First, the state does not agree that the evidence for robbery was insufficient and in fact, contends that the evidence was clearly sufficient to support the robbery conviction and a felony murder conviction. Further, this claim is procedurally barred as appellant did not present this argument to the trial Bertolotti v. Dugger, 514 So.2d 1095 (Fla. 1987). court below. In Bertolotti, the defendant contended that the state had failed to prove sexual battery and burglary beyond a reasonable doubt and therefore, Bertolotti maintained that counsel should have argued on appeal that the general verdict was void under Stromberg v. California, 283 U.S. 359 (1931), because it might have been based on felony murder with either sexual battery or burglary as the underlying felony. This Court Bertolotti's claim stating that since the issue was not preserved for appellate consideration, that appellate counsel could not

have been ineffective in failing to raise it. Because the "Stromberg issue" was never presented to the trial court, appellate counsel's failure to raise an issue which was not preserved for appellate review and which does not present a fundamental error does not amount to a serious deficiency in performance. <u>Id</u>. at 1097. Defense counsel below made a motion for judgment of acquittal for the robbery and for the felony murder. At no time, however, did defense counsel present the argument now presented to this Court. Accordingly, this issue is procedurally barred.

Furthermore, even if this issue was not procedurally barred, it is without merit. In <u>Griffin v. United States</u>, 502 U.S. _____, 116 L.Ed.2d 371, 112 S.Ct. _____ (1991), the United States Supreme Court rejected an identical argument.

"Petitioner cites no case, and we are aware of none, in which we have set aside a general verdict because one of the possible basis of conviction was neither unconstitutional as in Stromberg, nor even illegal as in Yates v. United [354 U.S. 298 (1957)], but merely If such unsupported by sufficient evidence. invalidation on evidentiary grounds were appropriate, it is hard to see how it could be limited to those alternative basis of conviction that constitute separate legal grounds; merely the underlying principle would apply equally, for example, to an indictment charging murder by shooting or drowning, where the evidence of drowning proves inadequate. See Schad v. Arizona, 501 U.S. ___, 115 L.Ed.2d 555, 111 S.Ct. 2491. But petitioner's requested extension is not merely unprecedented and extreme; it also contradicts another case, postdating Yates, that in our view must govern here.

Turner v. United States, 396 U.S. 398, 24 L.Ed.2d 610, 90 S.Ct. 642 (1970), involved a claim that the evidence was insufficient to support a general quilty verdict under a one count charging indictment the defendant knowingly purchasing, possessing, dispensing, and distributing heroin not in or from the original stamp package, in violation of 26 U.S.C. §4704(a) (1964 Ed.). We held that the conviction would have to be sustained sufficient evidence were We set forth distribution alone. "When a jury returns a prevailing rule: indictment guilty verdict on an charging several acts in the conjunctive, as Turner's indictment did, the verdict stands if the evidence is sufficient with respect to any one of the acts charged."

Griffin v. United States, 116 L.Ed.2d 371, at 380 - 81 (emphasis added).

The Court noted that while jurors are not generally equipped to determine whether a particular theory of conviction is contrary to the law, they are well equipped to determine whether the theory is supported by the facts. And although, it would generally be preferable to give an instruction removing from the jury's consideration an alternative basis of liability that does not have adequate evidentiary support, the refusal to do so does not provide an independent basis for reversing an otherwise valid conviction.

Likewise, this Court has also consistently rejected similar arguments. Tefteller v. State, 439 So.2d 840 (Fla. 1983), cert. denied, 465 U.S. 1074 (1984); Knight v. State, 394 So.2d 997 (Fla. 1991).

Accordingly, the state urges this Court to find that this claim is procedurally barred. If, however, this Court should find that the motion for judgement of acquittal was sufficient to preserve the issue, then the state urges this Court to find that a general verdict is not rendered void by a challenge to the sufficiency of one of the alternate grounds for the conviction.

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO EXERCISE A PEREMPTORY CHALLENGE.

The appellant also challenges the trial court's ruling permitting the state to exercise a peremptory challenge on the only black person in the jury venire. However, a review of the record presented and relevant case law demonstrates that the trial court properly found the state's use of this peremptory challenge to be appropriate, and therefore the appellant is not entitled to relief.

In addition, although the appellant now argues that the reason given by the prosecutor was applicable to white jurors who were not challenged, this argument was never presented to the trial court for consideration. Although the appellant objected to excusing Ellison, defense counsel did not suggest that the reason offered by the prosecutor was equally applicable to unchallenged white jurors. Therefore, this argument has not been preserved for appellate review. Floyd v. State, 569 So.2d 1225 (Fla. 1990), cert. denied, U.S. , 111 S.Ct. 2912, 115 L.Ed.2d 1075 (1991); McNair v. State, 579 So.2d 264 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991). Similarly, the appellant's argument that the trial court's allowance of this peremptory challenge resulted in a jury which was not representative of the community and therefore violated the legislative intent of Section 921.141, Florida Statutes, and the dictates of Witherspoon v. Illinois, 391 U.S. 510, 88 S.Ct. 1770, 20 L.Ed.2d 776 (1968) was never suggested to

the trial court, so this specific contention has not been preserved for appellate review. Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982).

The court below followed the mandate of State v. Slappy, 522 So.2d 18 (Fla.), cert. denied, 487 U.S. 1219, 108 S.Ct. 2873, 101 L.Ed.2d 909 (1988), and required the prosecutor to explain the peremptory challenge (R. 851). However, the court specifically found that the state's reason to excuse Ellison was not a pretext, as the court had also observed Ellison's difficulty with the questions and hesitant demeanor (R. 852). This finding is entitled to great deference, since the prospective jurors' demeanor and attitude was much more evident to the parties below than can be gleaned from the cold record on appeal. supra. Broad discretion is given to the judge's finding that the state's reason was race-neutral, since the judge was present and able to discern the nuances of the spoken words and the demeanor of those involved. Reed v. State, 560 So.2d 203 (Fla.), cert. denied, U.S., 111 S.Ct. 230, 112 L.Ed.2d 184 (1990). Since the instant record supports the trial court's ruling that the peremptory challenge was "well taken," that ruling should not be disturbed on appeal (R. 852).

Thus, the appellant's cognizable argument that the record does not support the prosecutor's reason does not demonstrate that he is entitled to relief. The trial court specifically confirmed Ellison's hesitant demeanor, despite the appellant's best effort on appeal to argue that the cold transcript does not

reflect that Ellison lowered her voice (R. 852). A reviewing court is not authorized to conduct a de novo review of the entire voir dire proceedings. Files v. State, 586 So.2d 352 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). Given the trial court's clear recognition of the prosecutor's concerns about Ellison's demeanor and difficulty in answering the questions, the reason for the challenge is amply supported by the record. See, Wright v. State, 586 So.2d 1024 (Fla. 1991); Tillman v. State, 522 So.2d 14 (Fla. 1988).

The appellant has failed to demonstrate any error in the trial court's allowing the state to peremptorily excuse prospective juror Ellison. Therefore, he is not entitled to a new trial on this issue.

ISSUE IV

WHETHER FUNDAMENTAL ERROR OCCURRED WHEN THE TRIAL JUDGE TOLD THE JURY THAT HE COULD NOT ANSWER A JUROR'S QUESTION ABOUT THE LAW OR PROVIDE ADDITIONAL INSTRUCTIONS.

After receiving instructions at the close of the guilt phase, in the presence of the defendant, defense counsel and the prosecutor, a juror told the court that he had a question that has to do with the interpretation of the law. In the presence of all the parties and without objection by either party, the trial court told the juror that,

"All right. Let me ask and I'll tell you that I can tell you nothing more than I have given in these particular instructions, so if you will read the instructions again, if you have difficulty in understanding them, these are the only instructions I can give you, so I would hope that you will read the instructions very fully and completely and in consultation with you fellow jurors, I think that you can come, hopefully, to a conclusion that's necessary for you to deliberate here.

If you have some other question, though, if you go back into the jury room and as a group wish to have that question asked, then you may come back in, letting the bailiff know that you need to address the court with a question. All right, sir?" (R 1489)

Appellant contends that this colloquy between the court and the jury constituted fundamental error. He contends that the court's message was that the juror should not ask the judge any questions about the law because he could not answer them and that the court's comment that the jurors could ask any other question necessarily led to a belief that to a reasonable understanding that these "other questions" were limited to nonlegal questions

about matters not dealing with the law. He also contends that although the question and answer were in the presence of counsel and without objection by counsel, that the court's <u>sua sponte</u> instruction was erroneous under *Criminal Rule of Procedure 3.410*, in that defense counsel was not given the opportunity to be heard. Neither position is supported by the facts or the law.

First, while it is true that the court did not ask counsel his opinion before responding to the jurors instructions, it is also clear that defense counsel did not voice an objection to the instruction before or after the instruction was given. Colbert v. State, 569 So.2d 433 (Fla. 1990), this Honorable Court reviewed the per se error rule announced in Ivory v. State, 351 So.2d 26, 28 (Fla. 1977), where this Court held that it was prejudicial error for a trial judge to respond to a request covered under Rule 3.410 without counsel being present and having the opportunity to participate in discussion of the action to be taken on the jury's request. The court noted that this per se reversible error rule evolved as a prophylactic procedure to ensure that a trial judge's response to a jury request for additional instructions or to have testimony read is made in the presence of counsel. Noting that without this participation process, it is impossible to determine whether prejudice has occurred during one of the most sensitive stages of the trial, this Court held that the particular evil Rule 3.410 and the per se error standard of Ivory were designed to prevent is the lack of notice to counsel, coupled with the lost opportunity for counsel

to argue and to place objections on the record. This Court affirmed <u>Colbert</u> because, unlike <u>Ivory</u> and its progeny, the notice requirement of *Rule 3.410* was effectively satisfied where counsel had notice, an opportunity to argue, and to object, both before and after the instructions were given. This was true even though the trial judge in <u>Colbert</u> gave an instruction to the jury without telling counsel the content of the instruction beforehand.

Similarly, in Mills v. State, 17 F.L.W. D798 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), the District Court held that the harmless error rule applies where defense counsel and the defendant has notice of a jury question, even when the trial judge fails to give defense counsel the opportunity to be heard as to the appropriate In Mills, the trial judge notified both counsels that the jury had a question and in the defendant's presence, defense counsel asked what the question was so that it could be The trial court refused to tell defense counsel the discussed. question and told him there was no need to talk about it. jury was then brought into the courtroom. The jury requested that the court clarify or provide a copy of the law on armed trafficking. The trial judge told the jury that he could not do that, but that he would reread the instruction on trafficking. Defense counsel then objected to the instruction. Nevertheless, the court held that the court's failure to tell him the question before responding was subject to the harmless error rule.

After conducting a harmless error analysis, the appellate court in <u>Mills</u> held that there was no error in the reinstructions given and that the scope of reinstruction of a jury is within the discretion of the trial court. <u>Id</u>. citing <u>Garcia v</u>. State, 492 So.2d 360 (Fla.), cert. denied, 479 U.S. 1022 (1986).

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